IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 83356

Electronically Filed Jan 12 2022 03:16 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

GREGORY GARMONG,

Appellant

--against--

WESPAC; GREG CHRISTIAN,

Respondents

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of Washoe County, Nevada Judge Lynne Simons, Case No. CV12-01271

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Carl M. Hebert, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 250 2215 Stone View Drive Reno, NV 89436 (775) 323-5556

Attorney for Appellant Gregory Garmong

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

There is jurisdiction in this Court under NRAP 3A(b)(8): "A special order entered after final judgment." The District Court made an award of attorney's fees post-confirmation of an arbitrator's final award. <u>Lytle v. Rosemere Estates Prop.</u> <u>Owners</u>, 129 Nev. 923, 925-26 (2013).

This is appeal from an order confirming an arbitration award, NRS 38.243(1), and awarding attorneys fees. *Id.* at (3). On March 11, 2019, the arbitrator issued his Final Award (AA 5/0727).¹ Garmong requested that the Final Award be vacated by the District Court, and on August 8, 2019 the District Court entered an order confirming the arbitrator's Final Award (AA 6/1095). Garmong moved to alter or amend this Order. Notice of entry of the District Court's Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend was served and filed on December 9, 2019 (AA 7/1221). The District Court's Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend was a final order which terminated the underlying case.

Garmong took an appeal. The Court of Appeals decided against him. Garmong v. WESPAC; and Greg Christian, No. 80376-COA, Order of Affirmance

1

References to the Appellant's Appendix ("AA") include the volume number, a slash and the document number found in the lower right corner of each page followed, when appropriate, by a colon and the line number on the page.

entered on December 1, 2020.

2

Defendants/respondents WESPAC and Christian moved for attorney's fees. Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's, filed February 18, 2021. (AA 8/1331). The District Court awarded attorney's fees and confirmed the arbitration award (again) on July 12, 2021. Order Granting Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs; Order Confirming Arbitrator's Final Award, filed July 12, 2021. (AA 9/1476).

On July 16, 2021 the District Court entered a "Final Judgment," which was an award of attorney's fees to the respondents. (SA 1).² On that same date WESPAC and Christian filed and served their written notice of entry of the Final Judgment. (SA 4).

On August 10, 2021 appellant Garmong filed a Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment awarding attorney's fees. SA 9-10.

The "Final Judgment," written notice of entry of this judgment and the second notice of appeal in this case were inadvertently omitted from the Appellant's Appendix. Therefore, appellant Garmong has prepared and filed a short Supplemental Appendix ("SA") to supply the Court with these filings.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a postjudgment order in a civil case. NRAP 17(b)(7). It is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(5).

I. INTRODUCTION

This appeal is required because the underlying bases for the awards of fees-- the arbitration award, the rulings of the District Court and the Order of Affirmance by the Court of Appeals either did not address or deliberately overlooked a salient flaw in the handling of this case throughout. That is the misuse of the law of summary judgment as applied in the arbitration and the refusal of the trial court and the Court of Appeals to rectify the error. Garmong's Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment ("PMPSJ") (AA 1/59-108) in the arbitration was never decided according to law, contrary to the mandatory requirement of Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729 (2005). The arbitrator, in the face of *undisputed* material facts supporting the motion for summary judgment, denied it on the grounds that he wanted to hear the case to determine the credibility of the witnesses. See Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 118 Nev. 706, 713-14 (2002) and Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986), which prohibit credibility determinations as part of summary judgment proceedings and state the mandatory steps in adjudicating summary judgment motions.

Many of the matters germane to this second appeal were also pertinent to the first appeal, since the District Court relied upon the prior determinations of the first motion (AA 4/666-678) for fees in deciding the second motion (AA 8/1331-1335) for fees. In the first appeal the Court of Appeals ignored the governing law, or misstated

or brushed past it in its Order of Affirmance (AA 8/1318-1328) that decided the first appeal.³ Alternatively stated, the substantive basis for respondents' second motion for fees was the decision in their favor on the first motion for fees granted by the arbitrator and affirmed by the district court and the Court of Appeals. The Order of Affirmance in the first appeal was relied upon by the District Court implicitly under the doctrine of law of the case. The holdings of the first motion for fees are so clearly erroneous that continued adherence to them would work a manifest injustice.

<u>Hsu v. County of Clark</u>, 123 Nev. 625, 629 (2007) holds: "The doctrine of the law of the case provides that the law or ruling of a first appeal must be followed in all subsequent proceedings, both in the lower court and on any later appeal." <u>Clem v.</u> <u>State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 620 (2003), taken with <u>Hsu</u>, provides important exceptions to the doctrine, including change in law, change in evidentiary facts, and an exception that is especially applicable here: "We will depart from our prior holdings only where we determine that they are so clearly erroneous that continued adherence to them would work a manifest injustice."

As the issues and legal questions are discussed *infra*, it is necessary to address

3

This Court declined to address the substance of the First Appeal, so the law effective for the remainder of the case, under the doctrine of law of the case, was decided by the Court of Appeals. This is troubling, because its Order of Affirmance incorrectly stated most of the important facts.

the correct law, the incorrect positions taken by the Order of Affirmance that allegedly constitute the law of the case, and the reasons that the positions of the Order of Affirmance are "so clearly erroneous that continued adherence to them would work a manifest injustice." And, as will be explained, a further consequence of a determination that the positions taken by the Order of Affirmance are incorrect is that its decisions on the first appeal must be reversed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the arbitrator, the District Court, and the Court of Appeals incorrectly refused to apply properly the controlling precedent of <u>Pegasus v. Reno</u> <u>Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 118 Nev. 706, 713-14 (2002) in relation to Garmong's Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("PMPSJ").

2. Whether in deciding PMPSJ the arbitrator, the District Court, and the Court of Appeals incorrectly refused to properly apply the law of the tortious breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing (Fourth Claim of the first amended complaint), breach of the Nevada deceptive trade practices act (Fifth Claim), breach of fiduciary duty (Sixth Claim), breach of fiduciary duty of full disclosure (Seventh Claim), and breach of NRS 628A.030 (Tenth Claim).

3. Whether the arbitrator, the District Court, and the Court of Appeals incorrectly refused to properly apply the mandatory procedures of <u>Wood v. Safeway</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 729 (2005) to decide PMPSJ.

4. Whether the arbitrator, the District Court, and the Court of Appeals incorrectly refused to properly apply JAMS Rule 24 in awarding attorneys fees to respondents.

5. Whether the arbitrator, the District Court and the Court of Appeals incorrectly refused to properly apply <u>Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown</u>, 97 Nev. 49, 52

- xiv -

(1981) and <u>All Star Bonding v. State of Nevada</u>, 119 Nev. 47, 49 (2003) prohibiting a court from revising the terms of an agreement between the parties.

6. Whether the District Court had a basis for awarding attorney's fees and costs, which are the basis of this Second Appeal.

7. Whether the District Court should have granted Garmong's motion for extension of time to file an opposition to the respondents' second amended motion for attorney's fees.

III. COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS A. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case: This was an action for negligent investment advice, breach of fiduciary and fraud brought by appellant Garmong, a retiree with savings to invest, against respondents Wespac and Christian, an investment advisory firm and financial advisor, respectively.

Course of the proceedings: Garmong filed a complaint in the Second Judicial District Court on May 9, 2012. The District Court compelled arbitration at the request of Wespac and Christian. Garmong took a petition for writ to this Court seeking to prevent arbitration. The petition was denied. See the Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition in Case No. 65899, entered on December 12, 2014.

The parties proceeded to arbitration with JAMS. An arbitration hearing was held between October 16 to 18, 2018. On March 11, 2019 the arbitrator entered an award against appellant Garmong, which included an award of attorney's fees.

In the District Court Garmong moved to vacate the arbitration award. For their part Wespac and Christian moved to confirm the award. On August 8, 2019 the District Court entered an omnibus order confirming the award, including attorney's fees and costs, and denying Garmong's motion to vacate the award.

Garmong appealed. The appeal was referred to the Court of Appeals, which

entered an Order of Affirmance on December 1, 2020 in Case No. 80376-COA.

Wespac and Christian moved for additional attorney's fees under NRS 38.243(3) for the appeal. This was their second amended motion for attorney's fees and costs filed on February 18, 2021. The District Court granted this motion and awarded additional fees in a "Final Judgment" entered on July 16, 2021.

Garmong filed a notice of appeal in this second appeal on August 10, 2021.

Disposition below. The District Court entered a "Final Judgment" on July 16, 2021 awarding the respondents additional attorney's fees incurred on appeal post-arbitration confirmation.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal from a District Court Order awarding a second round of attorney fees and costs to respondents.

Respondents are financial advisors and planners who, by law, NRS 628A.020, have a fiduciary duty to their clients such as Garmong, including a duty of full disclosure. Appellant, over the age of 60 at all relevant times, entrusted a portion of his life savings to defendants/respondents Wespac and Christian (collectively sometimes "Wespac") to manage and provide for his retirement. Wespac is a California company that had recently opened an office in Reno to purportedly manage the financial investments of Nevada residents. In their initial dealings and later, Wespac concealed from Garmong that defendant Christian had previously been disciplined and suspended by the governing body of financial advisors and planners, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), for defrauding clients. Wespac also concealed that it had violated, and was continuing to violate, numerous regulatory laws of the State of Nevada governing financial advisors and planners, and foreign LLCs, as well as numerous SEC regulations. (These violations are discussed in detail at AA 8/1282-1290.

These factual misrepresentations and the concealment of information were all highly material because Garmong stated under oath that he "never, never, never would have remotely considered doing business with" defendants if he had known the truth of the information that defendants falsified and/or concealed. (AA 8/1290-1292).

This initial deception by Wespac, not discovered by Garmong until after Wespac had dissipated his savings and this lawsuit had commenced, set the tone for Wespac's dishonesty in their dealings. This dishonesty resulted in Wespac wasting hundreds of thousands of dollars of Garmong's hard-earned retirement savings at a time after he had retired and could not replace the losses by subsequent earnings.

Dr. Garmong was over 60 years of age at all relevant times. There have been many cases where this court (in the past) and other courts have reacted with shock to the intentional defrauding of the elderly by investment advisors and their ilk. See discussion at AA 8/1303-1305, and case authority such as Evans v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev. 598 (2000) and Estate of Wildhaber ex rel. Halbrook v. Life <u>Care Centers</u>, 2012 WL 5287980 (D. Nev. 2012). As the U.S. Supreme Court stated in <u>Washington v. Glucksberg</u>, 521 U.S. 702, 731 (1997), "[T]he State has an interest in protecting vulnerable groups-including the poor, the elderly, and disabled persons-from abuse, neglect, and mistakes." These policy positions notwithstanding, the undisputed defrauding of Garmong by the Wespac respondents prompted not a whisper of response from the arbitrator, which was endorsed by the courts.

Plaintiff filed his Complaint and later FAC (AA 1/20-30) in the District Court. At an early stage Christian falsified three declarations to persuade the District Court to refer the matter to arbitration. During the arbitration, at the arbitrator's invitation, Garmong filed PMPSJ, which was fully briefed. In ruling on the PMPSJ the arbitrator admitted that "Many of the facts relied upon by Claimant [Garmong] are indeed 'undisputed,' " yet disregarded Plaintiff's Undisputed Material Facts ("UMFs") and refused to apply the mandatory procedural approach of <u>Wood</u>. The arbitrator excused his disregard for this precedent by calling for a "merits hearing" as part of the summary judgment procedure to test credibility of the witnesses, which is directly contrary to law such as <u>Pegasus</u> and which hearing he never held in any event. The arbitrator denied PMPSJ, and the District Court and the Court of Appeals affirmed, each refusing to apply the controlling precedents.

The case proceeded to arbitration discovery and a three-day hearing, which resulted in the arbitrator's Final Award in favor of Wespac. In reaching this decision, the arbitrator disregarded both the facts and the law presented to him.

Early in the arbitration, the parties had contractually agreed upon, and the arbitrator had ordered (AA 3/0366-0369 and 3/0391-0394), the rules governing the arbitration, as permitted by JAMS, the arbitration agency. This agreed-upon governing law did not include NRCP Rule 68, providing for offers of judgment. About a month after this contractual agreement and order, Wespac nevertheless made an offer of judgement under NRCP 68, to which Garmong did not respond because it had been agreed that NRCP 68 was not a rule governing the arbitration. About 20 months later, after the arbitrator had ruled in favor of Wespac, the arbitrator awarded Wespac attorney's fees based upon the offer of judgment. The parties never changed their contractual agreement, and the arbitrator never changed his Order establishing that NRCP 68 was not included in the law governing the arbitration.

Garmong then brought motions to vacate the arbitrator's decisions. These were denied by the District Court. The first appeal followed. This appeal was referred to the Court of Appeals, which issued its Order of Affirmance (8/AA 1318). This Court summarily declined review. The Order of Affirmance in the first appeal ignored respondents' fiduciary duty and its breach, the perjury by respondent Christian, and breach of contract by Wespac. Equally importantly, the Order of Affirmance refused to adhere to the controlling precedent governing summary judgment and the controlling rules of the arbitration.

Respondents then moved for further attorney's fees, which was granted by the District Court. This second appeal follows.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Many material issues common to the two appeals were improperly addressed by the Order of Affirmance. For the issues that the Order of Affirmance attempted to decide, the doctrine of law of the case governs their applicability in this second appeal and also requires revision of the decision of the first appeal.

The Order of Affirmance addressed, although not correctly, whether the arbitrator properly refused to decide PMPSJ to hold a "merits hearing" to assess credibility and properly refused to apply the law on summary judgment set forth in <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 729 (2005). For those issues that the Order of Affirmance attempted to decide, the doctrine of law of the case governs. But, "[i]n order for the law-of-the-case doctrine to apply, the appellate court must actually address and decide the issue explicitly or by necessary implication." <u>Dictor v.</u> <u>Creative Management Services, LLC</u>, 126 Nev. 41, 44 (2010).

The primary issues that were not addressed at all by the Order of Affirmance were application of the rules of evidence in summary judgment proceedings, the application of the JAMS rules and the principles of contract between the parties as to the governing rules of the arbitration.

That some issues were wrongly decided by the Order of Affirmance of the first appeal and others are not addressed at all raises a complexity of issues both as to the continuing viability of the result of the first appeal, and how the issue is properly addressed in this second appeal.

V. ARGUMENT

V.A. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. De novo review of applicability and interpretations of questions of law of the case and exceptions.

The application and interpretation of the doctrine of law of the case, and exceptions thereto, are questions of law that are reviewed *de novo*. Estate of Adams <u>By and Through Adams v. Fallini</u>, 132 Nev. 814, 818-19 (2016). In assessing exceptions to the doctrine, the Court must evaluate whether the prior holdings are "so clearly erroneous that continued adherence to them would work a manifest injustice." <u>Clem v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 620 (2003).

2. Awards of attorneys fees are reviewed for abuse of discretion

The District Court's decision to award attorney fees is within its discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent a manifest abuse of discretion. <u>Capanna v. Orth</u>, 134 Nev. 888, 895 (2018). But "an arbitrary or capricious exercise of discretion is one founded on prejudice or preference rather than on reason, or contrary to the evidence or established rules of law." <u>State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Armstrong)</u>, 127 Nev. 927, 931–32 (2011) "A manifest abuse of discretion is [a] clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." *Id.* at 932 (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted)." <u>City of Henderson v.</u> <u>Amado</u>, 133 Nev. 257, 259 (2017).

3. Review of factual determinations is based upon a standard of "clearly erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence."

A district court's factual determinations will not be set aside unless they are clearly erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence. "Substantial evidence is that [evidence] which 'a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." J.D. Constr., Inc. v. IBEX Int'l Grp., LLC, 126 Nev. 366, 380 (2010).

V.B. THE DOCTRINE OF LAW OF THE CASE AND ITS APPLICATION HERE

Respondents and the District Court raised the circumstances that require the

application of the doctrine of law of the case and exceptions thereto in this second appeal, and the consequences of applying the exceptions. Respondents brought a Second Amended Motion for Attorneys Fees. The District Court issued "Order Granting Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees, Order Confirming Arbitrator's Final Award" ("Order Granting Defendants' Second Fee Motion"), which confirmed the grounds of the arbitrator's Final Award in connection with the second fee motion, after they had already been addressed in connection with the first fee motion. Accordingly, the doctrine of law of the case is implicated for matters actually decided in first appeal.

V.B.1. The Doctrine and its Exceptions.

"The doctrine of the law of the case provides that the law or ruling of a first appeal must be followed in all subsequent proceedings, both in the lower court and on any later appeal." <u>Hsu v. County of Clark</u>, 123 Nev. 625, 629 (2007). <u>Hsu</u>, 123 Nev. at 627 further held, "We conclude that, in some instances, equitable considerations justify a departure from the doctrine that the principles set forth in a first appeal are the law of the case on all subsequent proceedings." <u>Clem v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 615, 620 (2003), taken with <u>Hsu</u>, elaborated important exceptions to the doctrine, including change in law, change in evidentiary facts, and an equitable exception that is especially applicable here: "We will depart from our prior holdings only where we

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