THOMAS C. BRADLEY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 1621 435 Marsh Avenue Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone (775) 323-5178 Facsimile (775) 323-0709 Tom@TomBradleyLaw.com Attorney for Respondents

GREGORY O. GARMONG,

Electronically Filed Feb 14 2022 12:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Appellant, v.	Case No. 83356	
WESPAC; GREG CHRISTIAN, Respondents.		
	/	
Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court		

## **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF**

## **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal from an order of the Second Judicial District Court granting an <u>unopposed</u> motion for attorney's fees. Because this appeal also contains numerous other claims which Appellant has unsuccessfully appealed in the past, this Court lacks jurisdiction to review these already denied claims.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the District Court should have granted Appellant's motion for extension of time to file an opposition to the Respondents' second amended motion for attorney's fees.
- 2. Whether the District Court and the Court of Appeals improperly relied on the Declaration of attorney Thomas C. Bradley in awarding Respondents additional attorney's fees and costs incurred by Respondents in the confirmation of the Arbitration Award in the District Court and the Court of Appeals

#### III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact and conclusions of law, supported by substantial evidence, will not be set aside unless they are clearly erroneous. Sheehan & Sheehan v. Nelson Malloy & Co., 121 Nev. 481, 486, 117 P.3d 219 (2005). "Substantial evidence is that evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." J.D. Constr. v. IBEX Int'l Grp., LLC, 126 Nev. 366, 380, 240 P.3d 1033, 1043 (2010) (internal quotation marks omitted). This Court must determine if

there is clear and convincing evidence as to each count sustained. Clear and convincing evidence "is beyond a mere preponderance of the evidence." *See* Albert H. Wohlers & Co. v. Bartgis, 114 Nev. 1249, 1260 n.4, 969 P.2d 949, 957 n.4 (1998) (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also* In re Discipline of Drakulich, 111 Nev. 1556, 1566, 908 P.2d 709, 715 (1995) (clear and convincing evidence "need not possess such a degree of force as to be irresistible, but there must be evidence of tangible facts from which a legitimate inference ... may be drawn" (internal quotation marks omitted)).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for breach of a financial management agreement brought by Appellant (Plaintiff below) Gregory Garmong. The Complaint included claims for Breach of the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Breach of Fiduciary Duty as well as other claims against Respondents (Defendants below) Greg Christian, a financial advisor at Respondent WESPAC Advisors. Six years after the District Court first ordered the parties to engage in binding arbitration, the Arbitrator, Judge Phillip Pro issued an "Interim Award" wherein he ruled that Mr. Garmong failed to prove any of his claims and permitted WESPAC and Mr. Christian to file a motion for attorneys' fees and costs. Judge Pro subsequently awarded Respondents \$111,649.96 as reasonable attorneys' fees and costs.

On August 8, 2019, the District Court confirmed the Arbitration Award

including the Arbitrator's award of fees and costs. The Nevada Court of Appeals later affirmed the Order of the District Court. Respondents subsequently requested an additional award of \$45,084.50 in attorney's fees and costs incurred by Respondents in the confirmation of the Arbitration Award in the District Court and the Court of Appeals. Appellant failed to timely file an opposition. The District Court subsequently declined to allow Appellant to file an untimely opposition. Appellant now seeks to appeal the order granting the unopposed motion for attorney's fees. Thus, nearly ten years after the Complaint was filed, the case continues.

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 2021, District Court Judge Simons aptly described the first seven years of procedural history of this case as follows:

This is an action for breach of a financial management agreement and carries with it a robust procedural history. Mr. Garmong filed his Complaint on May 9, 2012. On September 19, 2012, Defendants filed their Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. On December 13, 2012, this Court1 entered its Order granting Defendants' request to compel arbitration but denying the motion to dismiss. Mr. Garmong then filed his Combined Motions for Leave to Rehear and for Rehearing of the Order of December 13, 2012 Compelling Arbitration ("Reconsider Motion"). The motion was opposed by Defendants. Mr. Garmong did not file a reply and this case was stagnant for nearly a year until January 13, 2014, when the Court entered its Order to Proceed. Mr. Garmong filed his reply on February 3, 2014. The Reconsider Motion was denied on April 2, 2014.

Mr. Garmong then sought writ relief from the Nevada Supreme Court. On December 18, 2014, the Nevada Supreme Court

entered its Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition. The Supreme Court next entered its Order Denying Rehearing on March 18, 2015, and, subsequently, entered its Order Denying En Banc Reconsideration on May 1, 2015.

After the Nevada Supreme Court's orders were entered, this Court again entered an Order for Response, instructing the parties to proceed with this case. Order, November 17, 2015. In response, the parties indicated they had initiated an arbitration proceeding with JAMS in Las Vegas. Notice of Status Report, December 1, 2015.

On June 8, 2016, Mr. Garmong filed his Motion for a Court-Appointed Arbitrator, arguing the JAMS arbitrators were prejudiced against Mr. Garmong. This matter was fully briefed; and, on July 12, 2016, this Court entered its Order re: Arbitration requiring three arbitrators. The parties then stipulated to select one arbitrator, to reduce costs. Stipulation to Select One Arbitrator, October 17, 2016. In accordance, this Court entered its Order Appointing Arbitrator on October 31, 2016, appointing Michael G. Ornstil, Esq., as arbitrator. After it was determined Mr. Ornstil was unavailable, Mr. Garmong stipulated to the appointment of either retired Judge Phillip M. Pro or Lawrence R. Mills. Esq.

On November 13, 2017, this Court entered its Order Granting Motion to Strike, which stayed the proceeding pending the outcome of the arbitration and directed the parties to file an amended complaint and other responsive papers at the direction of Judge Phillip M. Pro. Order Granting Motion to Strike, p. 2. On February 21, 2017, this Court entered its Order Appointing Arbitrator, appointing Judge Phillip M. Pro ("Judge Pro").

On March 27, 2017, Mr. Garmong filed Plaintiff's Objection Pursuant to NRS 38.231(3) and 38.241(e) That There is No Agreement to Arbitrate; Notification of Objection to the Court. Despite prior determinative orders from this Court, Mr. Garmong again objected to arbitration on the basis there was no agreement to arbitrate.

On May 23, 2017, this Court entered its Order to Show Cause Why Action Should not be Dismissed for Want of Prosecution Pursuant to NRCP 41(E), finding "Mr. Garmong and Defendants were ordered

numerous times to participate in arbitration as early as December 13, 2012." The Court found the file did not contain any evidence the parties had proceeded to arbitration as ordered. Order, p. 4. Accordingly, the Court ordered the parties to show cause why the action should not be dismissed for want of prosecution. Order, p. 4.

The parties had their first arbitration conference in April 2017. On June 22, 2018, without asking for leave of Court to lift the stay, Mr. Garmong filed his Motion to Disqualify Arbitrator Pro, Vacate Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment and Appoint New Arbitrator ("Motion to Disqualify"). The Court thereafter entered its Order Denying Plaintiffs Motion to Disqualify Arbitrator Pro; Order Denying Motion to Vacate Order Denying Motion for Summary Judgment; Order Denying Motion to Appoint New Arbitrator ("Arbitrator Order') on November 11, 2019.

Defendants thereafter filed Defendants' Motion for Limited Relief From Stay to File Motion for Attorney's Fees and Sanctions ("Motion for Sanctions") requesting limited relief from this Court's order staying the proceeding pending the outcome of arbitration. While the Motion for Sanctions was under consideration, Defendants filed their Notice of Completion of Arbitration Hearing on October 22, 2018.

The Court found, with completion of the arbitration, Defendants' Motion for Sanctions was moot. Additionally, the Court took notice of Defendants' Notice of Completion of Arbitration and determined there were additional decisions to be rendered regarding the Notice. Judge Pro found Mr. Garmong's claims, for: (1) Breach of Contract, (2) Breach of Implied Warranty, (3) Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, (4) Nevada's Deceptive Trade Practices Act, (5) Breach of Fiduciary Duty of Full Disclosure, (6) Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and (7) Unjust Enrichment, all failed as a matter of law because Mr. Garmong did not establish his claims by a preponderance of the evidence. Final Award, p. 8-9. Furthermore, after weighing the necessary factors required by Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969), Judge Pro found Defendants were entitled to an award of reasonable attorneys' fees in the total sum of \$111,649.96. Final Award, p. 11.

After the Final Award, the litigation proceeded with several filings. On August 8, 2019, this Court entered its Order Re Motions ("ORM"): (1) granting Defendants' Petition for an Order Confirming Arbitrator's Final Award and Reducing Award to Judgment, Including, Attorneys' Fees and Costs; (2) denying Plaintiffs Motion to Vacate Arbitrator's Final Award; (3) denying Plaintiffs Motion to Vacate Arbitrator's Award of Attorneys' Fees; (4) denying Plaintiffs Motions to Vacate Arbitrator's Award of Denial of Plaintiffs Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and for the Court to Decide and Grant Plaintiffs Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Motion to Vacate MSJ Decision"); and, (5) granting Defendants' Motion for an Order to File Exhibit as Confidential. ORM, p. 15-16.

On August 27, 2019, this Court entered its Order directing: (1) WESPAC to file an Amended Motion for the Award of Attorneys' Fees; (2) allowing Mr. Garmong the standard response time to file and serve his opposition to Defendants' Amended Motion for the Award of Attorneys' Fees; and, (3) providing WESPAC would not be required to file a Proposed Final Judgment until ten (10) days following this Court's ruling on WESPAC's Amended Motion for the Award of Attorneys' Fees. Order, p. 1.

On December 6, 2019, this Court entered its Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment ("AA Order") maintaining its prior rulings within the ORM. On January 7, 2020, Mr. Garmong filed his Notice of Appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court regarding this Court's Arbitrator Order, ORM, and AA Order.

Order Holding Issuance of Order o Defendants' Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees in Abeyance, March 9, 2020, RA001-RA008.

On March 9, 2021, the District Court elected to decide that motion following Appellant's appeal and directed Respondents (Defendants below) to "resubmit after disposition of the current appeal." *Order Holding Issuance of Order on Defendants' Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees in Abeyance*, March 9, 2020, RA001-RA008.

In addition, the Court made clear that "[t]his Order does not affect the \$111,649.96 in attorney's fees and costs previously confirmed by this Court prior to the appeal."

Id.

The Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the Order of the District Court on December 1, 2020. *Order of Affirmance*, December 1, 2020, RA009. Appellant subsequently filed a Petition for Rehearing on January 4, 2021 which was denied on February 17, 2021. *Petition for Rehearing*, January 4, 2021, RA020-RA044; *Order Denying Rehearing*, February 17, 2021, RA045.

On February 18, 2021, Respondents filed Second Amended Motion For Attorney's Fees which were incurred: "(1) to confirm the award before this Court and oppose the Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment; (2) to confirm the award on appeal to the Nevada Court of Appeals." Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees, February 18, 2021, RA046-RA128. Respondents' Motion not only requested an order the Arbitrator's Final Award of \$111,649.96, but also an additional award of \$45,084.50 in attorney's fees and costs incurred by Respondents in the confirmation of the Arbitration Award in the District Court and the Court of Appeals. Id. Included with Respondents' Motion was a Declaration by Respondents' counsel, Thomas C. Bradley, in which Mr. Bradley declared, under penalty of perjury that the "total fees and costs incurred and paid by the Defendants following the Arbitration Award are \$45,084.50." Id. at RA053-RA054. Included with Mr.

Bradley's Declaration were copies of six pages of detailed invoices he had previously submitted to Respondents. *Id.* at RA055-RA059.

Because the case was still on appeal, the parties agreed "to defer any ruling on the attorney's fees until the conclusion of the appeal" and on March 1, 2021, filed a *Stipulation For Extension of Time to Oppose Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorneys' Fees*. RA129-RA130. In the *Stipulation*, the parties further agreed that "the plaintiff may have to and including ten (10) calendar days after the Nevada Supreme Court acts on the petition for review under NRAP 40 in which to file the points and authorities in opposition to the defendants' second amended motion for attorney's fees." *Id.* The District Court thereafter extended the time for Appellant to file an opposition to *Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorneys Fees* in an Order filed March 1, 2021. *Order Extending Time for Plaintiff to File Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendants' Second Amended Motion*, March 1, 2021, RA131-RA132.

On April 6, 2021, the Nevada Supreme Court entered an *Order Denying Petition for Review*. RA133.

Appellant did not file his opposition by the April 16, 2021 deadline. Five days later, on April 21, 2021, Respondents' counsel filed a *Request for Submission for Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees*. RA134-RA140.

Thereafter, on April 26, 2021, Appellant filed a Motion to Strike Declaration

of Thomas C. Bradley in Support of Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. RA141-RA144.

The next day, April 27, 2021, Appellant filed a Motion for Extension of Time to File Opposition to Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs. RA145-RA152.

After further briefing by the parties, on June 11, 2021, the District Court filed an *Order Denying Motion For Extension of Time to File Opposition to Defendant's Second Amended Motion For Attorney's Fees and Costs*. RA153-RA164. On July 7, 2021, the District Court issued an *Order Denying Motion to Strike Declaration of Thomas C. Bradley in Support of Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs*. RA165-RA174.

On July 12, 2021, the District Court granted Respondents' motion for attorney's fees and confirmed the Arbitrator's Final Award. *Order Granting Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees; Order Confirming Arbitrator's Final Award,* July 12, 2021, RA175-187. A Final Judgment, confirming the Arbitrator's award of fees and costs in the amount of \$111,649.96 and ordering Appellant to pay to Respondents the additional sum of \$45,084.50 in attorney's fees and costs incurred by Respondents in the confirmation of the Arbitration Award in the District Court and the Court of Appeals was entered on July 16, 2021. *Final Judgment,* July 16, 2021, RA186-188; *Notice of Entry of Judgment,* July 16, 2021,

#### RA189-193.

Appellant thereafter filed a Notice of Appeal in which he stated that he is appealing: the Final Judgment filed by the District Court on July 16, 2021; the District Court's order granting Respondents' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees; the District Court's order confirming the Arbitrator's Final Award; the District Court's order denying his motion for extension of time to oppose Respondents' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs; and the District Court's order denying his motion to strike attorney Thomas C. Bradley's Declaration in support of Respondents' Second Amended Motion for Attorneys' Fees. Notice of Appeal, August 11, 2021, RA194-RA195.

#### VI. LEGAL ARGUMENT

# A. The Court Correctly Denied Appellant's Motion for an Extension of Time

In his current appeal, Appellant claims that his *Motion For Extension of Time* to File Opposition to Defendants' Second Amended Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs, should have been granted as Respondents would have suffered no prejudice as a result of the extension. Appellant Brief at pg. 49. Appellant further argues that by failing to contact Appellant's counsel prior to requesting submission of Defendants' Second Amended Motion, which Mr. Bradley did five days after the agreed upon deadline, Respondents' counsel "violated the letter and spirit of the Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct Rule 3.5A." Appellant Brief at pg. 50. As a

result, Appellant claims that Respondents' counsel "essentially took a default against the plaintiff[.]" Appellant Brief at pg. 51.

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